
     LUNENBURG COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
GENERAL DISTRICT COURTROOM 
LUNENBURG COURTS BUILDING 

LUNENBURG, VIRGINIA 
 

Minutes of May 14, 2020 Meeting 
 
 The regularly scheduled meeting of the Lunenburg County Board of Supervisors was held on Thursday, May 14, 
2020 at 6:00 pm in the General District Courtroom, Lunenburg Courts Building, Lunenburg, Virginia.  The following 
members were present:  Supervisors Edward Pennington, T. Wayne Hoover, Alvester Edmonds, Frank Bacon, Mike 
Hankins, Charles R. Slayton, Robert Zava, County Administrator Tracy M. Gee, Deputy Administrator Nicole A. Clark, and 
County Attorney Frank Rennie.   
 
 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, public attendance was limited to the lobby and Supervisors and staff adherred 
to social distancing (maintaining a distance of at least six feet from others) in the courtroom. 
 
 Chairman Slayton called the meeting to order.   
 
 Supervisor Zava provided the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance.   
 

Chairman Slayton requested additions to the agenda from the Board and the public.  Administrator Gee 
requested that Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act of 2020 funds be added as 9B.  

 
Supervisor Pennington made motion, seconded by Supervisor Hankins and approved by roll call vote, with all 

seven Supervisors voting yes and none voting no, to accept the Consent Agenda to include the Minutes of the April 9, 
2020 meeting, the Treasurer’s March 2020 reports, and the following Warrants for Approval: 

 
April 2020: 
  Payroll Direct Deposit:                        $    131,158.57 

Payroll Check #17216         $           722.13 
  Payroll Taxes Federal:                       $      41,145.17 
  Payroll Taxes State:                           $        7,423.93 

Payroll VRS payment:                       $      28,161.10  
  Payroll ICMA-RC payment:                      $            565.88      
  Payroll Health Savings Deposits:          $         5,878.58 
  Accounts Payable: #59089-59202        $    390,191.71 
 
  Total:                      $    605,247.07 

 
County Attorney Rennie advised that Ordinance 20-1 (Emergency Ordinance to Effectuate Temporary Changes in 

Certain Deadlines and to Modify Public Meeting and Public Hearing Practices and Procedures to Address Continuity of 
Local Government Operations Associated with Pandemic Disaster) and Ordinance 20-2 (Emergency Ordinance to Delay 
Penalty and Interest for 30 Days on Real Estate and Personal Property Taxes Due June 5, 2020) were temporarily 
approved at the April meeting due to the declaration of a local emergency.  County Attorney Rennie noted that both 
ordinances had been advertised and needed reconsideration by the Board.  He advised that upon a vote, Ordinance 20-1 
would remain in effect for six months, however, the Board may extend that time if necessary.    

 
Supervisor Pennington made motion, seconded by Supervisor Bacon and by roll call vote, with all seven 

Supervisors voting yes and none voting no, approved, to adopt the Emergency Ordinance 20-1 to Effectuate Temporary 
Changes in Certain Deadlines and to Modify Public Meeting and Public Hearing Practices and Procedures to Address 
Continuity of Local Government Operations Associated with Pandemic Disaster. 



  

  



 
 
County Attorney Rennie reviewed Ordinance 20-2, delaying interest and penalty on real estate and personal 

property taxes due on June 5th for 30 days past the due date.  He added that Ordinance 20-2 had also been properly 
advertised and required an additional vote from the Board.  

 

 
Supervisor Bacon made motion, seconded by Supervisor Edmonds and by roll call vote, with all seven 

Supervisors voting yes and none voting no, approved, to adopt Ordinance 20-2, delaying interest and penalty on real 
estate and personal property taxes due on June 5th for 30 days past the due date.   

 
County Attorney Rennie presented Ordinance 20-3, modifying the Lunenburg County Code to include a 

definition for family cemeteries and adding family cemeteries on private property to the list of permitted uses and 
structures.  He explained that the state code reads that families should not have to go through the lengthy process of 



obtaining a Conditional Use Permit if the cemetery will be on private property.  Approval of this modification will allow 
the Lunenburg County Code to be more in line with the state’s recommendation.  Supervisor Hoover questioned if this 
change would take effect immediately.  County Attorney Rennie replied yes.  

 
Supervisor Zava made motion, seconded by Supervisor Hoover and by roll call vote, with all seven Supervisors 

voting yes and none voting no, approved, to adopt Ordinance 20-3, modifying the Lunenburg County Code to include a 
definition for family cemeteries and adding family cemeteries on private property to the list of permitted uses and 
structures.   

 
The monthly VDOT report was reviewed.  Supervisor Zava questioned when VDOT and the Board would review 

the Secondary Six Year Plan as discussions had been postponed due to the pandemic.  Administrator Gee advised that 
VDOT had not updated her on the Secondary Six Year Plan.  She added that she would reach out to Assistant Residency 
Administrator Kevin Smith for an update.  

 
Assistant School Superintendent and Finance Director James Abernathy approached the Board regarding the 

FY2020-21 budget.  He advised that they are projecting a budget based on 1530 students.  Mr. Abernathy shared a 
spreadsheet indicating the minimum required local effort match funding totaled approximately $3.7 million.  He 
explained that if they do not receive the required local funds, they will not receive state funds.  Mr. Abernathy added 
that the state provides about $8,000 per student, representing about seventy-five percent of the total cost.  The locality 
is required to fund the remaining twenty-five percent.   Mr. Abernathy noted that the schools have seen an 
unprecedented growth in the number of students over the past few years and a climb in special education needs.  He 
advised that if they have more than 1530 students they would need to request additional funds from the county.  
Supervisor Bacon questioned what would happen with additional local funds if they have fewer students than projected.  
Mr. Abernathy stated that they would request the funds to be carried over to the following year.  He advised that they 
will have to certify to the state in the coming months that they have received the required local match funds from the 
county.  Mr. Abernathy added that the staff and students have worked hard and all schools are still accredited.  He said 
they deserve more than just the bare minimum required.  Supervisor Hoover inquired about the number of new 
positions in the proposed budget and Mr. Abernathy indicated thirteen new positions.  He noted some were special 
education teachers, some instructional assistants, a new pre-K teacher and a new tech program.   Mr. Abernathy advised 
that there is some turnover; however, he could not discuss those as personnel had not yet been informed.        

 
Administrator Gee advised that the monthly department reports were provided. She noted that there had been 

several complaints of a pungent odor at the landfill due to some work on the old cell.  CFS installed a fragrance pumping 
system at two locations which is helping with the temporary source of the odor.  She commented that the Gary Road 
Convenience site opened on April 25, 2020.  The traffic count was slow at first, but it continues to pick up.  Supervisor 
Edmonds stated that he received a complaint saying the cost to dispose of a tire had increased from $5 to $15 per tire.  
Administrator Gee explained that the fee schedule at the landfill has since been relaxed and they are now providing a 
sliding scale for tire disposal.  Landfill Liaison Carl Ashworth spoke with the manager and they have reduced several of 
their fees for residents.  

 
Administrator Gee provided an update on the FY2020-21 budget.  She highlighted community partner requests.  

Four new requests were included for consideration of funding for future years.  Supervisor Hankins advised that 
Piedmont Senior Resources requested $13,809, an increase of $9,809 from the previous year’s appropriation.  He added 
that the funds from the localities are used as match funds for grants.  Supervisor Hankins explained that every one dollar 
they do not receive from a locality equates to three dollars of grant funds they will not receive.  He stated that PSR 
serves a high number of seniors in Lunenburg County.  Supervisor Hankins requested the board to consider a plan to 
gradually increase funding each year.  He noted that PSR recently cut back on services in Amelia County due to 
underfunding.  Administrator Gee advised that due to Madeline’s House no longer providing services to the county, she 
repurposed their $2,000 allocation to PSR, for a total of $6,000 for FY20-21.  

 
Administrator Gee shared a letter from Ron Jenkins, Executive Director of Virginia Loggers Association, Inc., 

requesting the board consider removing the personal property machinery and tools tax on forest harvesting and 
silvicultural equipment.  The letter states that the 2020 General Assembly and Governor Northam have given approval 
for local jurisdictions to exempt these taxes effective July 1, 2020.  Administrator Gee advised that Lunenburg has only 



three to four logging companies and receives about $58,000 in taxes for forest harvesting and silvicultural equipment.  
Supervisor Hoover advised that the board previously eliminated the tax on farm equipment; however, the reduction was 
phased in over a three to five year period.  He suggested the board revisit the request for the 2021 tax year due to the 
current state of revenue streams from the pandemic.  Supervisor Hoover added that he supports the exemption and 
suggested a twenty percent reduction each year over a five year period to eliminate the tax.    

 
Administrator Gee continued to discuss the FY2020-21 proposed budget.  She noted that the upcoming budget 

year would show the first full year of the personal property tax increase from $3.60 to $3.80 per $100 valuation.  She 
projected a small decrease in delinquent taxes revenue, as well as local sales tax due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  She 
increased landfill host fees due to expected increases in tonnage and liaison fees due to a renegotiated annual fee.  
Administrator Gee explained expected expense increases.  Virginia Retirement System biennium rates as well as health 
insurance rates increased, affecting all county offices.  The Commonwealth Attorney’s Office personnel line item 
includes additional funds for an Assistant Commonwealth Attorney due to the departure of the previous assistant. 
Administrator Gee adjusted the expense for Piedmont Regional Jail due to reduction of federal inmate revenue.  She 
showed an increase in transfer funds to the school system to meet the minimum local effort requirement as well as 
removed their debt service payment to the county.  Supervisor Hankins reminded the board of a citizen’s request to 
reduce the fee for a concealed weapon permit; the board had stated they would review the request again during budget 
discussions.  County Attorney Rennie advised that he’d been informed of an opinion issued by the Attorney General's 
Office stating that individual counties and cities do not have the authority to adjust the fee for a concealed weapon 
permit.  He noted that he would obtain a copy of the opinion issued and review it with the board at the next meeting.  

 
Supervisor Zava pointed out that the proposed budget uses $854,916 of reserve funds.  He noted that figure 

would represent a ten cent on the dollar tax increase or twenty-five percent.  He advised that such a large use of reserve 
funds cannot continue to occur.  The board has been able to build up the reserve fund in the past by being frugal with 
expenses, however, the reserve fund will run out quickly if they continue to use the funds this way.  Supervisor Edmonds 
commented that he believes the board needs to consider increasing taxes in the near future.  He noted that Lunenburg 
has one of the lowest rates in the state and has not increased taxes in many years.  Supervisor Bacon noted that an 
increase in tax rate should be postponed because of the pandemic as many people are struggling with basic needs.  He 
added that one unknown factor is the landfill; revenue could begin to increase with an increase in tonnage.  Supervisor 
Pennington agreed that a tax increase would be needed, however, he doesn’t want to see the rate jump too high at any 
one time.  Supervisor Zava commented that Lunenburg does not have the huge tax base like some other counties.  He 
added that the county will not be able to simply increase taxes to cover all the increases in debt.  The board will have to 
make some tough choices in the future.   Administrator Gee requested any changes or modifications to the proposed 
budget from the board.  She added that if the proposed budget is advertised, they still have the ability to make changes 
up to one percent of the total budget without having to re-advertise.    

 
Supervisor Bacon made motion, seconded by Supervisor Hoover and by roll call vote, with all seven Supervisors 

voting yes and none voting no, approved, to advertise the proposed FY2020-21 budget as presented.   
  
Administrator Gee advised the board that she had been notified of Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 

Security (CARES) Act of 2020 Federal funds designated for Lunenburg County in the amount of $1,064,054.  She noted 
there were many stipulations to accepting and using the funds.  Counties are expected to share funds with their towns 
at their own discretion.  Funds may only be used for COVID-19 related expenses.  Supervisor Hoover shared another 
stipulation.  Any use of FEMA funds cannot be used for the same purpose as CARES Act funds.  Supervisor Hoover stated 
that he fully supported allowing Administrator Gee to sign the CARES Act fund request form.  He suggested some of the 
funds be used to stock up on personal protective equipment (PPE) to have on hand for the future.     

   
Supervisor Zava made motion, seconded by Supervisor Hoover and by roll call vote, with all seven Supervisors 

voting yes and none voting no, approved, to allow Administrator Gee to sign the CARES Act Federal funds request form 
and accept the funds on June 1, 2020. 

 
Administrator Gee shared that she had been contacted by Mr. Ollie Wright of the Electoral Board regarding the 

upcoming elections.  Victoria Fire & Rescue contacted the Electoral Board requesting that elections normally held in 



their facility, be moved to a different location due to the facility’s potential risk of COVID-19 exposure.  Mr. Wright 
advised that moving to another location would incur additional expenses. 

 
Administrator Gee directed the Board to Glenn Millican's monthly report.  He has been working remotely during 

the pandemic.  Administrator Gee provided her monthly report. She noted that the Administration Office implemented 
staggered staffing to minimize transmission of the coronavirus.  She advised that the county signed the Audit 
Engagement Letter from Robinson Farmer Cox.  Supervisor Zava commented that the new Gary Road Convenience 
Center looks nice and seems to be operating well.  He added that a Convenience Center site was desperately needed in 
the Beaver Creek district.  Administrator Gee advised that the dumpster sites on Gigg Road and Potts Spring Road had 
seen a tremendous increase in traffic and trash.  The Potts Spring site also has a large hole at the back of the site which 
is causing trouble for the drivers picking up the cans.  She added that the hole would need repairing.  Administrator Gee 
advised that the county had another positive case of COVID-19.  The county’s total is now up to six, however, three of 
those have fully recovered.  Administrator Gee added that the local manufacturing business, VA Marble had tested 
twenty-three employees which were potentially exposed and all tests were negative.   She advised that she had been 
contacted by a local resident inquiring about establishing free testing sites within the county.  She is unsure if six cases 
would warrant the Health Department setting up free testing within the county.  Currently two medical facilities in the 
county offer testing.  Supervisor Hoover stated that RiteAid and Patient First in the Colonial Heights area are offering 
free tests to anyone, no symptoms required.  Administrator Gee shared a request from Meherrin Volunteer Fire & 
Rescue to use capital funds in the amount of $7,133.42 as grant match funds for the purchase of two Zoll X Series 
monitors.  She advised that they have capital funds available for this purchase and will have about $10,000 to roll over 
to the next budget year.  Administrator Gee noted that the Department of Social Services requested sixty-six three ring 
binders and on four drawer filing cabinet with a broken drawer be declared as surplus and dispose of the items.  

 
Supervisor Hoover made motion, seconded by Supervisor Edmonds and by roll call vote, with all seven 

Supervisors voting yes and none voting no, approved, to declare as surplus, for the Department of Social Services, sixty-
six three ring binders and on four drawer filing cabinet with a broken drawer. 

 
Administrator Gee notified the board that she has enrolled in a fourteen-week NACO High Performance 

Leadership course and received a scholarship for part of the tuition.  Administrator Gee commented that she had 
received a letter from Piedmont Court Services announcing the retirement of their director, Ms. Renee Trent-Maxey.  
She has worked for PCS for thirty years and will be retiring July 31, 2020.   

 
Supervisor Hoover made a motion, seconded by Supervisor Edmonds and unanimously approved, to enter 

Closed Session citing Virginia Code Section §2.2-3711A4 Protection of Privacy of an Individual for Personal Matters. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED SESSION MEETING 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Lunenburg County, Virginia (“Board”) convened a Closed Session Meeting 
on this date pursuant to an affirmative recorded vote in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of Information 
Act; and  

 
WHEREAS, Section §2.2-3712 of the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, requires a certification by the Board 

that such Closed Meeting was conducted in conformity with Virginia law. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board hereby certifies that, to the best of each member’s 

knowledge, (i) only public business matters lawfully exempted from Open Meeting requirements by Virginia law were 
discussed in the Closed Meeting to which this certification resolution applies, and (ii) only such public business matters 
as were identified in the motion convening the Closed Meeting were heard, discussed or considered by the Board. 

 
VOTING YES   VOTING NO   ABSENT     
Supervisor Bacon           

 Supervisor Edmonds 
Supervisor Hankins 
Supervisor Hoover       



Supervisor Pennington 
Supervisor Slayton 
Supervisor Zava 
 
Supervisor Bacon made a motion, seconded by Supervisor Edmonds and unanimously approved, to return to 

Open Session and certified as indicated. 
 
Supervisor Hoover made motion, seconded by Supervisor Bacon and by roll call vote, with all seven Supervisors 

voting yes and none voting no, approved, to hold a Public Hearing on the proposed FY2020-21 budget at the regularly 
scheduled Board of Supervisors’ meeting on June 11, 2020 and hold a meeting on June 18, 2020 to potentially adopt the 
budget.   

 
Supervisor Hoover made motion, seconded by Supervisor Edmonds and by roll call vote, with all seven 

Supervisors voting yes and none voting no, approved, to adjourn. 
 
 
________________________________   ___________________________________ 
Tracy M. Gee, Clerk     Charles R. Slayton, Chairman 
County Administrator      Board of Supervisors 


